
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN 

 
-------------------------------------------------------------x  
CYNTHIA ORAVECZ, individually and on 
Behalf of all Others Similarly Situated, 
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
 v. 
 
WALGREEN CO.; GNC HOLDINGS, INC.; 
TARGET CORPORATION; and WAL-MART 
STORES, INC., 
 
  Defendants. 

  
Case No: 15-cv-218 
 
 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT  
 
 
 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

-------------------------------------------------------------x  
 
 

Plaintiff Cynthia Oravecz (“Plaintiff”), individually and on behalf of all others similarly 

situated (the “Class”), based on the investigation of counsel, personal knowledge as to facts 

pertaining to Plaintiff and upon information and belief as to all other matters, brings this action 

against Defendant Walgreen Co. (“Walgreens”), GNC Holdings, Inc. (“GNC”), Target 

Corporation (“Target”), and Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. (“Wal-Mart”) (collectively “Defendants”) and 

allege as follows: 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This action is filed against Defendants, who are retailers of over-the-counter 

supplements, for falsely claiming that their store-brand, over-the-counter, herbal supplements 

contained purported primary healthful ingredients when, in fact, the supplements failed to 

contain such ingredients. Rather, the Defendants’ herbal supplements contained other materials 

not disclosed by the Defendants, putting the health of consumers at risk. 

2. Herbal supplements are dietary supplements that are believed to possess certain 

therapeutic or other health benefits. These supplements are derived from natural plants, flowers, 
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roots and the like, and come in many different dosages and forms, such as capsules or liquid. The 

names of some herbal supplements, like Echinacea or Garlic, are quite familiar to most people. 

The Defendants manufacture and sell a variety of Herbal Supplements under their own private 

labels.1 

3. On February 2, 2015, the New York Attorney General (“NYAG”) sent Cease and 

Desist Letters to the CEO’s of the Defendants, demanding they stop selling certain store brand 

Herbal Supplements that fail to contain the ingredients that the Defendants represent are 

contained in the Herbal Supplements, or, that contain other substances which are not disclosed 

on the packaging for those Herbal Supplements.  

4. In particular, the NYAG stated that it obtained random samples from the 

Defendants’ store-brand nutritional supplements (i.e. Ginkgo Biloba, St. John’s Wort, Garlic) 

from several different locations of each Defendant. The NYAG then conducted specific genetic 

testing on each of the samples and found that the vast majority of Herbal Supplements tested 

failed to contain any of the primary ingredients they were represented to contain, and in many 

cases, contained ingredients that do not match what is on the label.  

5. Plaintiff seeks relief in this action both individually and as a class action on behalf 

of all purchasers of Defendants’ falsely labeled herbal supplements, for injuries caused by 

Defendants’ common practices, including unjust enrichment, breach of express warranty, 

misrepresentation, fraudulent concealment, and violation of the laws of the State of Wisconsin. 

 

                                                 
1 For purposes of this complaint, the term “Herbal Supplements” shall include the following Defendants’ store brand 
supplements: Aloe Vera, Bilberry, Black Cohosh, Cat’s Claw, Chasteberry, Cranberry, Dandelion, Echinacea, Ephedra, Evening 
Primrose Oil, Feverfew, Flaxseed/Flaxseed Oil, Garlic, Ginger, Ginkgo (Ginkgo Biloba), Ginseng, Goldenseal, Green Tea, 
Hawthorn, Horse Chestnut, Kava, Licorice Root, Milk Thistle, Mistletoe, Red Clover, Saw Palmetto, St. John’s Wort, and 
Valerian. See http://www.nutrition.gov/dietary- supplements/herbal-supplements.  
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE  
 

6. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter presented by this Complaint 

because it is a class action arising under the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005 (“CAFA”), 18 

U.S.C. § 1332(d).  The total claims of individual class members in this action are in excess of 

$5,000,000 in the aggregate, exclusive of interest and costs.  Plaintiff is a citizen of the State of 

Wisconsin.  The total number of members of the proposed Class is greater than 100.  

7. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendants as they are authorized to 

do business and in fact do business in this district and have sufficient minimum contacts with this 

district, and/or each Defendant otherwise intentionally avails itself of the markets in this state 

through the promotion, marketing and sale of its Herbal Supplements in this district, to render 

the exercise of jurisdiction by this Court permissible under traditional notions of fair play and 

substantial justice. 

8. Venue in this district is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391 because Defendants 

conduct business within, may be found in, and are subject to personal jurisdiction in this judicial 

district.  

THE PARTIES 

9. Plaintiff Cynthia Oravecz is a citizen of the State of Wisconsin, residing in 

Milwaukee, Wisconsin.  Plaintiff purchased Garlic supplements from the Defendants during the 

Class Period.  Plaintiff incurred losses and/or damages as a result of the activities alleged. 

Plaintiff would not have purchased Garlic supplements had she known that the pill did not, in 

fact, contain any garlic. 

10. Defendant Walgreen Co. (“Walgreens”) is an Illinois corporation with its 

principal place of business at 108 Wilmot Road, Deerfield, Illinois. Walgreens owns and 
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operates approximately 8,300 stores throughout the United States.
 
Defendant Walgreens 

manufactures and sells its own line of Herbal Supplements under the brand name “Finest 

Nutrition.” Defendant Walgreens has been and still is engaged in the business of manufacturing 

and selling Herbal Supplements in the United States.  

11. Defendant Target Corporation (“Target”) is a Minnesota corporation with its 

principal place of business at 1000 Nicollet Mall, Minneapolis, Minnesota. As of February 2014, 

Target owned and operated approximately 1,800 retail stores throughout the United States.
 

Defendant Target manufactures and sells its own line of Herbal Supplements under the brand 

name “up & up.” Defendant Target has been and still is engaged in the business of 

manufacturing and selling Herbal Supplements in the United States.  

12. Defendant GNC Holdings, Inc. (“GNC”), is a Delaware Corporation with its 

principal place of business at 300 Sixth Avenue, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. GNC claims that it “is 

the leading global specialty retailer of health and wellness products, including vitamins, minerals 

and herbal supplement products.”
 
GNC has more than 8,500 locations as well as its website, 

where it sells its products, including Herbal Supplements.
 
Defendant GNC manufactures and 

sells its own line of Nutritional Supplements under a single brand name of “Herbal Plus.” 

Defendant GNC has been and still is engaged in the business of manufacturing and selling 

Herbal Supplements in the United States.  

13. Defendant Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. (“Wal-Mart”) is a Delaware corporation with its 

principal place of business at 702 S.W. 8th
 
Street, Bentonville, Arkansas. Defendant Wal-Mart 

manufactures and sells its own line of Herbal Supplements under the brand name “Spring 

Valley.” Defendant Wal-Mart has been and still is engaged in the business of manufacturing and 

selling Herbal Supplements in the United States.  
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FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

A. Background on Herbal Supplements 

14. Herbal Supplements, also known as “botanicals,” are one of the most commonly 

consumed nutritional supplements in the United States. Herbal Supplements are a type of dietary 

supplement that contains herbs plant or part of a plant used for its flavor, scent, or potential 

therapeutic properties or other health benefits. Herbal Supplements may include flowers, leaves, 

bark, fruit, seeds, stems, and roots, either on their own, or in mixtures  

15. Herbal Supplements are not regulated by the United States Food and Drug 

Administration. Therefore, virtually anyone with the ability to manufacture, market and sell 

Herbal Supplements can do so, with no oversight from the FDA. 

B.  New York Attorney General’s Investigation of Defendants 

16. The New York Attorney General has been conducting an investigation into the 

Herbal Supplements industry. As a result of that investigation, on February 2, 2015, the New 

York AG sent “Cease and Desist” letters to the Defendants, demanding that they remove certain 

of their store-brand Herbal Supplements from their shelves and otherwise cease selling such 

products.  

17. In the February 2 letter to GNC’s CEO, Michael Archbold, the NY AG stated that 

it purchased six Herbal Plus Herbal Supplements from four different New York state GNC 

locations. The Herbal Supplements purchased were Ginkgo Biloba, St. John’s Wort, Ginseng, 

Garlic, Echinacea, and Saw Palmetto. The NY AG then conducted genetic testing on each bottle, 

which yielded 120 results.  

18. In testing the samples, the NY AG used “DNA barcoding technology.” DNA 

barcoding technology is a highly reliable means of testing the genetic composition of herbal 
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supplements. Barcoding uses state-of-the-art biotechnology to help identify plant material based 

on short, standardized gene sequences  

19. The results of the genetic testing showed that 45% of the samples contained no 

plant DNA whatsoever. Further, 33% of the samples contained botanical material other than 

what appeared on the label. And finally, a mere 22% of the sample set yielded DNA that 

matched the contents of the product label.  

20. For example, with respect to the Herbal Plus Ginkgo Biloba tested by the NY AG, 

none of the samples contained any Ginkgo whatsoever, and many of the samples tested showed 

no presence of any plant material at all. Several of the tests revealed the presence of rice, spruce, 

and asparagaccae, materials that are not related to Ginkgo. The presence of these ingredients was 

not disclosed on the Herbal Plus Ginkgo packaging.  

21. With respect to the Herbal Plus St. John’s Wort, none of the samples tested 

contained any St. John’s Wort. A few of the samples contained other substances such as rice, 

allium and dracaena (which is a tropical houseplant). The presence of these three ingredients was 

not disclosed on the Herbal Plus St. John’s Wort packaging.  

22. With respect to Echinacea, none of the samples tested by the NY AG contained 

any Echinacea. Some of the samples contained rice, and pinus or ranunculacae. The presence of 

these ingredients were not disclosed on the Herbal Plus Echinacea packaging.  

23. Even in cases where the genetic tests on one of the Herbal Plus Herbal 

Supplements revealed the presence of the correct ingredient, many of the tests revealed the 

complete absence of the ingredient on the same product, thus, leaving a consumer completely 

unsure whether they got “lucky” and purchased one of the bottle’s that contained the proper 

ingredients.  
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24. In a February 2, 2015 letter to Target’s CEO, Brian Cornell, the NY AG stated 

that it purchased six ‘up & up” Herbal Supplements from three different New York state Target 

locations. The Herbal Supplements purchased were Ginkgo Biloba, St. John’s Wort, Valerian 

Root, Garlic, Echinacea and Saw Palmetto. The NY AG then conducted genetic testing on each 

bottle, which yielded 90 results.  

25. The results of the genetic testing showed that 38% of the samples contained no 

plant DNA whatsoever. Further, 21% of the samples contained botanical material other than 

what appeared on the label. And finally, a mere 41% of the sample set yielded DNA that 

matched the contents of the product label.  

26. For example, with respect to the up & up Ginkgo Biloba, none of the samples 

tested contained any Ginkgo. A few of the samples contained other substances such as rice, 

allium and mung/French Bean. The presence of these three ingredients were not disclosed on the 

up & up Ginkgo packaging.  

27. With respect to the up & up St. John’s Wort tested by the NY AG, none of the 

samples contained any St. John’s Wort whatsoever, and many of the samples tested showed no 

presence of any plant material at all. Several of the tests revealed the presence of rice, allium, 

and dracaena, all of which are unrelated to St. John’s Wort. The presence of these ingredients 

was not disclosed on the up & up St. John’s Wort packaging.  

28. With respect to the up & up Valerian Root tested by the NY AG, none of the 

samples contained any Valerian Root whatsoever, and many of the samples tested showed no 

presence of any plant material at all. Several of the tests revealed the presence of allium, 

phasolus/beans, rice, asparagaccea, peas, wild carrot, saw palmetto, and phaseolus fabacaeae, all 
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of which are unrelated to Valerian Root. The presence of these ingredients was not disclosed on 

the up & up Valerian Root packaging.  

29. Even in cases where the genetic tests on one of the up & up Herbal Supplements 

revealed the presence of the correct ingredient, many of the tests revealed the complete absence 

of the ingredient on the same product, thus, leaving a consumer completely unsure whether they 

got “lucky” and purchased one of the bottle’s that contained the proper ingredients.  

30. In a February 2, 2015 letter to Walgreens’ President, Alexander Gourlay, the NY 

AG stated that it purchased six Walgreens brand “Finest Nutrition” Herbal Supplements from 

three different New York state Walgreens locations. The Walgreens Herbal Supplements 

purchased were Ginkgo Biloba, St. John’s Wort, Ginseng, Garlic, Echinacea and Saw Palmetto. 

The NY AG then conducted genetic testing on each bottle, which yielded 90 results.  

31. The results of the genetic testing showed that 37% of the samples contained no 

plant DNA whatsoever. Further, 45% of the samples contained botanical material other than 

what appeared on the label. And finally, a mere 18% of the sample set yielded DNA that actually 

matched the contents of the product label.  

32. For example, with respect to the Finest Nutrition Ginkgo Biloba, none of the 

samples tested contained any Ginkgo. The only botanic material that was found in the Ginkgo 

samples was rice. The presence of the rice was not disclosed on the Finest Nutrition packaging.  

33. With respect to the Finest Nutrition St. John’s Wort tested by the NY AG, none of 

the samples contained any St. John’s Wort whatsoever, and many of the samples tested showed 

no presence of any plant material at all. Several of the tests revealed the presence of rice, allium, 

and dracaena, all of which are unrelated to St. John’s Wort. The presence of these ingredients 

was not disclosed on the Finest Nutrition St. John’s Wort packaging.  
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34. With respect to the Finest Nutrition Echinacea tested by the NY AG, none of the 

samples contained any Echinacea whatsoever, and many of the samples tested showed no 

presence of any plant material at all. Several of the tests revealed the presence of allium, oryza, 

and daisy, all of which are unrelated to Echinacea. The presence of these ingredients was not 

disclosed on the Finest Nutrition Echinacea packaging.  

35. Even in cases where the genetic tests on one of the Finest Nutrition Herbal 

Supplements revealed the presence of the correct ingredient, many of the tests revealed the 

complete absence of the ingredient on the same product, thus, leaving a consumer completely 

unsure whether they got “lucky” and purchased one of the bottle’s that contained the proper 

ingredients.  

36. In a February 2, 2015 letter to Wal-Mart’s President and CEO, Doug McMillon, 

the NY AG stated that it purchased six Wal-Mart brand “Spring Valley” Herbal Supplements 

from three different New York state Wal-Mart locations. The Spring Valley Herbal Supplements 

purchased were Ginkgo Biloba, St. John’s Wort, Ginseng, Garlic, Echinacea and Saw Palmetto. 

The NY AG then conducted genetic testing on each bottle, which yielded 90 results.  

37. The results of the genetic testing showed that 56% of the samples contained no 

plant DNA whatsoever. Further, 40% of the samples contained botanical material other than 

what appeared on the label. And finally, only 4% of the sample set yielded DNA that actually 

matched the contents of the product label.  

38. For example, with respect to the Spring Valley Ginkgo Biloba, none of the 

samples tested contained any Ginkgo. Some samples revealed the presence of rice, dracaena, 

mustard, wheat and radish. The presence of these ingredients was not disclosed on the Spring 

Valley packaging.  
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39. With respect to the Spring Valley St. John’s Wort tested by the NY AG, none of 

the samples contained any St. John’s Wort whatsoever, and many of the samples tested showed 

no presence of any plant material at all. Several of the tests revealed the presence of rice, allium, 

and cassava, all of which are unrelated to St. John’s Wort. The presence of these ingredients was 

not disclosed on the Spring Valley St. John’s Wort packaging.  

40. With respect to the Spring Valley Echinacea tested by the NY AG, none of the 

samples contained any Echinacea whatsoever, and none of the samples contained any botanical 

material of any kind.  

41. Even in cases where the genetic tests on one of the Spring Valley Herbal 

Supplements revealed the presence of the correct ingredient, many of the tests revealed the 

complete absence of the ingredient on the same product, thus, leaving a consumer completely 

unsure whether they got “lucky” and purchased one of the bottle’s that contained the proper 

ingredients.  

42. Through their deceptive marketing practices, Defendants capitalize on a consumer 

culture that is becoming more aware of and concerned with what a person is putting in his or her 

body. 

43. Defendants claim falsely that their store brand herbal supplements contain 

primary named ingredients. 

44. Defendants do not disclose to consumers on the labeling or mention in their 

advertising that the herbal supplements contain either no trace or very little trace amount of the 

named ingredient, and instead are comprised of cheap fillers. 
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CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

45. Plaintiff brings this class action pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a), 23(b)(2) and 

(b)(3) on behalf of a Class defined as: 

All persons or entities who purchased GNC “Herbal Plus,” Target 
“Up & Up,” Walgreens “Finest Nutrition,” and Wal-Mart “Spring 
Valley” brand herbal nutritional supplements during the period 
February 25, 2009 through the present (“Class Period”). 

46. The Class excludes Defendants and any entity in which Defendants have a 

controlling interest, and their officers, directors, legal representatives, successors, and assigns. 

47. Plaintiff reserves the right to amend the Class definition if discovery and further 

investigation reveals that the Class should be expanded or otherwise modified. 

48. Plaintiff reserves the right to establish sub-classes as appropriate. 

49. There is a well-defined community of interest among members of the Class, and 

the disposition of the claims of these members of the Class in a single action will provide 

substantial benefits to all parties and to the Court. 

50. Notice can be provided to the members of the Class through publication, or 

otherwise using techniques and a form of notice similar to those customarily used in consumer 

class actions arising under Wisconsin state law and federal law. 

51. The Class members are so numerous that joinder of all Class members is 

impracticable.  At this time, Plaintiff is informed and believes that the Class includes thousands 

of members.  Therefore, the Class is sufficiently numerous that joinder of all members of the 

Class in a single action is impracticable under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure Rule 23(a)(1), and 

the resolution of their claims through the procedure of a class action will be of benefit to the 

parties and the Court. 
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52. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Class members whom they seek 

to represent because Plaintiff and each member of the Class have been subjected to the same 

deceptive and improper practices by Defendant and have been damaged in the same manner. 

53. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the Class 

members as required by Federal Rule of Civil Procedure Rule 23(a)(4).  Plaintiff has no interests 

that are adverse to those of the members of the Class that they seek to represent.  Plaintiff is 

committed to the vigorous prosecution of this action and, to that end, Plaintiff has retained 

counsel who are competent and experienced in handling complex class action litigation on behalf 

of consumers. 

54. A class action is superior to all other available methods of the fair and efficient 

adjudication of the claims asserted in this Complaint under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

23(b)(3) because: 

(a) The expense and burden of individual litigation would not be 

economically feasible for members of the Class to seek to redress their “negative value” claims 

other than through the procedure of a class action. 

(b) If separate actions were brought by individual members of the Class, the 

resulting multiplicity of lawsuits would cause members to seek to redress their “negative value” 

claims other than through the procedure of a class action; and 

55. Absent a class action, Defendants likely would retain the benefits of their 

wrongdoing, and there would be a failure of justice. 

56. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all Class members and predominate 

over questions affecting only individual Class members.  Common legal and factual questions 

include, but are not limited to: 
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(a) whether Defendants were unjustly enriched by their conduct; 

(b) whether Defendants breached an express warranty made to Plaintiff and 

the members of the Class; 

(c) whether Defendants advertise, or market Herbal Supplements in a way 

that is false or misleading; 

(d) whether Defendants fail to conform to the representations, which were 

published, disseminated and advertised to Plaintiff and the members of the Class; 

(e) whether Defendants concealed from Plaintiff and the members of the 

Class that Herbal Supplements did not contain primary ingredients; 

(f) whether Defendants violated Wis. Stats. § 100.18; 

(g) whether Defendants violated Wis. Stats. § 100.20 and ATCP 90.02, Wis. 

Admin. Code; 

(h) whether Plaintiff and the Class members were injured as a result of 

Defendants’ misrepresentations; and 

(i) whether, as a result of Defendants’ misconduct as alleged herein, Plaintiff 

and the Class members are entitled to restitution, injunctive and/or monetary relief and, if so, the 

amount and nature of such relief. 

57. Plaintiff is not aware of any difficulty that will be encountered in the management 

of this litigation which should preclude its maintenance as a class action. 

COUNT I 
FRAUDULENT REPRESENTATIONS AND DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES IN 

VIOLATION OF § 100.18(1), WIS. STATS. 
(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class) 

58. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations in the preceding paragraphs. 
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59. Through advertisements and marketing representations featured on their 

packaging, materials, advertisements, and at points of sale, Defendants intended to and did 

misrepresent to Plaintiff and the Class, at the time of retail purchase and at all relevant times, that 

Herbal Supplements, as discussed above, included primary ingredients listed. Defendants knew, 

however, that this was not true. 

60. After and due to seeing Defendants’ advertisements and marketing 

representations, Plaintiff reasonably believed, and Plaintiff and the Class were reasonably likely 

to believe, that Herbal Supplements included listed primary ingredients, when they did not. 

61. Defendants intended that Plaintiff and the Class rely upon Defendants’ false, 

deceptive and misleading representations regarding the quality and character of its Herbal 

Supplements. 

62. Plaintiff and the Class would not have purchased Herbal Supplements altogether, 

or would have paid less for this product, had they known that the Herbal Supplements did not 

include primary ingredients, but in fact contained cheap fillers, such as rice or house plants. 

63. Defendants’ advertisements concerning Herbal Supplements were false, deceptive 

and/or misleading, and induced Plaintiff and the other members of the Class to make purchases 

that they would not have made otherwise if they had been in possession of all of the material 

facts. 

64. As a result of Defendants’ deceptive conduct and practices, Plaintiff and the Class 

suffered pecuniary loss in an amount not less than the purchase price of the Herbal Supplements 

they purchased, or a portion thereof, plus interest. 

65. Further, Defendants should be enjoined from marketing Herbal Supplements in 

the deceptive and unfair fashion described above pursuant to § 100.18, Wis. Stats. 
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COUNT II 
UNFAIR METHODS OF COMPETITION AND TRADE PRACTICES IN BUSINESS IN 

VIOLATION OF § 100.20(1), WIS. STATS. 
(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class) 

66. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations in the preceding paragraphs.  

67. ATCP 90.02(1), Wis. Admin. Code requires Defendants to label and identify their 

food products, including Herbal Supplements. 

68. ATCP 90.02(3), Wis. Admin. Code prohibits such identifications from being 

false, deceptive, or misleading. 

69. Defendants’ labeling of its product as including primary ingredients was false, 

deceptive, and/or misleading, insofar as it represented to consumers that Herbal Supplements 

included listed primary ingredients, when, in fact, they did not contain any primary ingredients, 

or in some cases, only trace amounts of the primary ingredients. 

70. After and due to seeing Defendants’ false, deceptive, and/or misleading labeling 

and identification of its product, Plaintiff reasonably believed, and Plaintiff and the Class were 

reasonably likely to believe, that Herbal Supplements included listed primary ingredients. 

71. Plaintiff and the Class would not have purchased Herbal Supplements altogether, 

or would have paid less for this product, had they known that the Herbal Supplements did not 

include primary ingredients, but in fact contained cheap fillers, such as rice or house plants. 

72. As a result of Defendants’ false, deceptive, and/or misleading labeling and 

identification of its products, Plaintiff and the Class suffered pecuniary loss in an amount not less 

than the purchase price of Herbal Supplements, or a portion thereof, plus interest. 

73. As Defendants’ false, deceptive, and/or misleading labeling and identification of 

its product is a violation of ATCP 90.02, Wis. Admin. Code, Plaintiff and the Class are entitled 

to twice the amount of their aforementioned pecuniary losses under § 100.20(5), Wis. Stats. 
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COUNT III 
BREACH OF CONTRACT AND EXPRESS WARRANTY 

(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class) 

74. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations in the preceding paragraphs.  

75. Plaintiff, and each member of the Class, formed a contract with Defendants at the 

time Plaintiff and the other members of the Class purchased Herbal Supplements.  The terms of 

that contract include the promises and affirmations of fact made by Defendants through their 

marketing campaign and in the Herbal Supplements’ labeling, as described above.  This product 

labeling and advertising constitutes express warranties and became part of the basis of the 

bargain, and is part of a standardized contract between Plaintiff and the members of the Class on 

the one hand, and Defendants on the other hand.  

76. All conditions precedent to Defendants’ liability under this contract, including 

notice, have been performed by Plaintiff and the Class.  

77. Defendants breached the terms of this contract, including the express warranties, 

with Plaintiff and the Class by not providing the product with the advertised benefits described 

above.  

78. Plaintiff and the members of the Class were injured as a direct and proximate 

result of Defendants’ breach because: (a) they would not have purchased the Herbal Supplements 

on the same terms if the true facts had been known; and (b) Herbal Supplements did not have the 

composition, attributes, characteristics, nutritional value, health qualities or value as promised. 

79. As a result of Defendants’ breach of their contract and warranties, Plaintiff and 

the Class have been damaged in the amount of the purchase price of Herbal Supplements, or a 

portion thereof, plus interest. 

COUNT IV 
NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION 

(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class) 
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80. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations in the preceding paragraphs. 

81. Defendants negligently misrepresented their above-described wrongful acts in 

order to defraud Plaintiff and Class Members by representing that Herbal Supplements, as 

discussed above, included the primary ingredients listed. Defendants knew, however, that this 

was not true. 

82. Defendants owed Plaintiff and the Class a duty to undertake reasonable efforts to 

make sure that the statements made to Plaintiffs and the Class regarding such matters, were 

truthful and complete.  

83. Defendants’ misrepresentations, unfair business and deceptive business practices 

were made negligently in that there was no reasonable basis for such representations, unfair 

business and deceptive business practices at the time such representations were made. 

84. In reliance upon the false representations made by the Defendants, Plaintiffs and 

the Class purchased the Herbal Supplements. 

85. Plaintiff’s and the Class’ reliance upon the false representations that were made 

by Defendants was reasonable in light of the fact that Defendants were in a much better position 

than Plaintiff and the Class to obtain knowledge concerning the true contents and ingredients of 

the Herbal Supplements. 

86. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ negligent misrepresentations 

and omissions, Plaintiff and the Class have suffered significant damages, in that they purchased 

products that did not contain the actual, stated ingredient(s) and instead, contained other 

materials not disclosed by the Defendants, putting the health of consumers at risk. 

87. Plaintiff and the Class are therefore entitled to an award of compensatory and 

punitive damages to be determined at trial. 
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COUNT V 

BREACH OF THE COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING 
(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class) 

 
88. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations in the preceding paragraphs. 

89. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ actions as described herein, 

Plaintiff and the Class have suffered, and continue to suffer, injury in fact and have lost money 

as a result of Defendants’ deception. 

90. Plaintiff and other Class members purchased Herbal Supplements with the 

expectation that they were receiving the primary ingredients listed on the label and packaging. 

91. Defendants, however, were selling Plaintiff and the Class herbal supplements that 

did not contain the primary ingredients listed. As such, Plaintiff and other Class members have 

not obtained the benefit of their bargain from Defendants, and the essential purpose of the herbal 

supplements sales contracts has been frustrated. 

92. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have breached the covenant of good faith 

and fair dealing and are liable to Plaintiff and the other members of the Class. 

COUNT VI 
UNJUST ENRICHMENT 

(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class) 

93. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations in the preceding paragraphs.  

94. By their wrongful acts and omissions, Defendants have been unjustly enriched at 

the expense of Plaintiff and members of the Class, who did not receive the goods to which they 

were entitled for the payments made to Defendants, and thus Plaintiff and members of the Class 

were unjustly deprived of money paid to Defendants. 
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95. It would be inequitable and unconscionable for Defendants to retain the profit, 

benefit, and other compensation they obtained from their deceptive, misleading, and unlawful 

conduct alleged herein. 

96. Plaintiff and members of the Class seek restitution from Defendants, and seek an 

order of this Court disgorging all profits, benefits, and other compensation obtained by 

Defendants from their wrongful conduct. 

COUNT VII 
INJUNCTIVE AND DECLARATORY RELIEF 

(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class) 

97. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations in the preceding paragraphs.  

98. As set forth above, Defendants have intentionally misrepresented the nature of 

Herbal Supplements sold to Plaintiff and other members of the Class. 

99. Defendants’ practices described herein are unlawful and against public policy, 

and therefore, Defendants should be prohibited and enjoined from engaging in these practices in 

the future and should be compelled to correct the harm caused by their conduct. 

PUNITIVE DAMAGES UNDER § 895.043, WIS. STATS. 
(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class) 

 
100. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations in the preceding paragraphs. 

101. Section 895.043(3), Wis. Stats. provides for an award of punitive damages in 

cases in which the defendant acts maliciously towards the plaintiff, or acts in intentional 

disregard of the rights of the plaintiff. 

102. Defendants intentionally pursued and continue to pursue the herein-alleged 

fraudulent course of action designed to make money at the expense of consumers and did so 

knowing it was misleading. Defendants’ false, deceptive, and/or misleading labeling, 

identification, marketing, representations and general trade and business practices concerning 
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Herbal Supplements constitute malicious, reprehensible, oppressive, and fraudulent actions 

towards consumers, including Plaintiff and Class, and an intentional disregard of their rights. 

103. Accordingly, Defendants have violated § 895.043, Wis. Stats., and punitive 

damages are appropriate to deter, punish, and make an example of Defendants. 

RELIEF REQUESTED 
 
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated, prays for 

judgment against Defendants as follows: 

A. Certification of the proposed Class and notice thereto to be paid by Defendants; 

B. Adjudge and decree that Defendants have engaged in the conduct alleged herein; 

C. For all legal and equitable/injunctive remedies available under the law; 

D. For punitive damages against Defendants in an amount sufficient to punish and 

set an example of Defendants; 

E. For an accounting by Defendants for any and all profits derived by Defendants 

from the sale of their product; 

F. That Plaintiff and the Class be awarded Defendants’ profits obtained by 

Defendants as a consequence of its conduct; 

G. For any and all other legal and equitable remedies that may be available, 

including actual and/or compensatory damages, disgorgement of profits, statutory 

penalties, injunctive relief, attorneys’ fees as provided by §§ 100.18(11)(b)2 and 

100.20(5), Wis. Stat., costs, and prejudgment and post judgment interest; and 

H. For such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Pursuant to Rule 38(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff and the Class 

demand a trial by jury as to all matters so triable. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Dated: February 25, 2015 
  ADEMI & O’REILLY, LLP 
 
 By: /s/ JOHN D. BLYTHIN  

Guri Ademi (SBN 1021729) 
Shpetim Ademi (SBN 1026973) 
John D. Blythin (SBN 1046105) 
Mark A. Eldridge (SBN 1089944) 
3620 East Layton Avenue 
Cudahy, WI 53110 
(414) 482-8000 
(414) 482-8001 (fax) 
gademi@ademilaw.com 
sademi@ademilaw.com 
jblythin@ademilaw.com 
meldridge@ademilaw.com 

Juan E. Monteverde 
FARUQI & FARUQI, LLP 
369 Lexington Avenue, 10th Floor 
New York, NY 10017 
(T) 212 983 9330 
(F) 212 983 9331  
jmonteverde@faruqilaw.com 

Counsel for Plaintiff 
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AO 440 (Rev. 12/09)  Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 12/09)  Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

’ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

’ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

’ I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

’ I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

’ Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 12/09)  Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

’ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

’ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

’ I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

’ I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

’ Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

’ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

’ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

’ I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

’ I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

’ Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

’ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

’ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

’ I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

’ I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

’ Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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